IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN)		
AND FAMILIES, STATE OF)		
FLORIDA,)		
)		
Petitioner,)		
)		
V.)	CASE NO.	SC03-410
)		
SUN-SENTINEL, INC.,)		
)		
Respondent.)		
	_/		

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES, STATE OF FLORIDA

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHRISTOPHER M. KISE Solicitor General Florida Bar No. 0855545

LYNN C. HEARN Deputy Solicitor General Florida Bar No. 0123633

Office of the Attorney General The Capitol, Suite PL-01 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 *Counsel for Petitioner*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is an appeal from a decision by the Fourth District Court of Appeal that erroneously finds a waiver of an objection to personal jurisdiction, and creates an illfounded exception to the home venue privilege.

On May 20, 2002, the State of Florida brought criminal charges in Palm Beach County against Amy and Donald Hutton for allegedly neglecting their ten children. (App. 2).¹ These criminal charges sparked several newspaper articles which reported that the Huttons were investigated for similar allegations numerous times over the last 15 years. (App. 3 at Ex. 1). The newspaper articles also reported that the State had brought similar criminal neglect charges against the Huttons in 1998, and that these charges had been dropped in exchange for the Huttons' agreement to comply with conditions required by the Department of Children and Family Services (the "Department"). (*Id.*).

On October 7, 2002, Sun-Sentinel, Inc. ("Sun-Sentinel"), publisher of the *South Florida Sun-Sentinel* newspaper, pursuant to Section 119.07(7), Florida Statutes, filed a civil petition in the criminal case against the Huttons seeking access to the Department's files relating to the Hutton's children. (App. 3).

¹ Documents contained in the Department's appendix to this initial brief are referred to as "App. _____."

The Department is required to keep records relating to child abuse, abandonment, and neglect, and these records are designated by statute as "confidential" and exempt from Florida's public records act. See Fla. Stat. § 39.202(1), (6) (2001). The Department's confidential records relating to child abuse or neglect may only be inspected by certain individuals identified by statute or as permitted by order of the court. See id. § 39.202(6). As noted above, Sun-Sentinel sought a court order pursuant to Section 119.07(7), Florida Statutes (2001), which permits any person to "petition the court for an order making public the records of the Department of Children and Family Services that pertain to investigations of alleged abuse, neglect, abandonment, or exploitation" In the prayer for relief in its petition, Sun-Sentinel specifically requested release of "the Department's file on the Hutton children (including case worker notes, staff reports, case plans, child protection records, and any other records, if any, and correspondence between or among staff)." (App. 3 at 7).

Sun-Sentinel did not move to intervene in the criminal proceeding and did not formally serve the Department with the petition. Instead, Sun-Sentinel faxed the petition to the Department's counsel, the prosecutor, the public defender, and the guardian ad litem. (*See id.*). The Department moved to dismiss the petition on the grounds of lack of process, service of process, subject matter jurisdiction, and personal jurisdiction reflecting the Department's contention that it was procedurally improper for Sun-Sentinel to file the civil petition in the criminal action rather than filing a separate civil action or, at a minimum, seeking leave to intervene in the criminal action. (App. 4). By separate motion filed the same day, the Department also moved to dismiss or transfer the action for improper venue, based upon the Department's "home venue" privilege to be sued in Leon County where it is headquartered. (App. 5).

While Sun-Sentinel's petition and the Department's motions to dismiss were pending, the Huttons entered into a plea agreement with the State, thereby concluding the criminal case. (App. 6 at p. 2). After the criminal case concluded, the trial court entered an order denying both of the Department's motions to dismiss. (App. 6). The court found that no service of process was required, and that the home venue privilege was inapplicable because, among other reasons, the petition was "not in the nature of a lawsuit" against the Department. (*Id.* at p. 3).

The Fourth District affirmed, holding (1) that by seeking to transfer venue, the Department waived its objection to the sufficiency of service, and (2) that the home venue privilege should be abrogated in this case because an applicant seeking records maintained in Palm Beach County should not be required to travel to Tallahassee to settle the right to view such records. *See Department of Children and Families, State of Florida v. Sun-Sentinel, Inc.*, 839 So. 2d 790, 791-792 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) (App. 1). The court further found that none of the policies behind the adoption of the home venue privilege were present in this case. *See id.* at 792. Upon remand, the trial court denied Sun-Sentinel's petition. Sun-Sentinel did not appeal this ruling.

The Department sought to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction based upon an express and direct conflict with *Jacksonville Elec. Auth. v. Clay County Utility Auth.*, 802 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), *rev. dismissed*, 821 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 2002). This Court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District erred as a matter of law in rejecting the Department's objections to lack of service of process. The Department did not waive its objection to the court's jurisdiction by simultaneously moving to transfer venue to Tallahassee, because the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure expressly permit–indeed, *require*–defendants to raise defenses relating to personal jurisdiction, service of process, and venue in response to an initial pleading.

Because Sun-Sentinel failed to properly serve the Department with the civil petition, the trial court lacked jurisdiction and its order is void in its entirety. Sun-

Sentinel was required to file a "civil action" in order to invoke the provisions of Chapter 119. Service of process is required on all defendants in civil proceedings in order to vest the trial court with personal jurisdiction over the defendants. Sun-Sentinel could not avoid this requirement by improperly filing its civil petition in a criminal proceeding to which the Department was not a party. Sun-Sentinel deliberately sought to bypass the procedure set out in Chapter 119 for seeking access to records, as well as the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, and should not be permitted to avoid service by violating these procedures.

Even if the trial court did have jurisdiction over Sun-Sentinel's civil petition, it erred as a matter of law in deciding that the Department was not entitled to transfer venue to the county in which the Department's principal headquarters is located. For more than 50 years, Florida courts have recognized the "home venue privilege" available to state government agencies. The purpose behind this privilege is applicable to this case. The interests of the public, the children of this state, and the persons named in an investigative report must be evaluated according to uniform standards. Moreover, application of the home venue privilege reduces public expenditure by consolidating in a single location the Department's litigation of actions involving access to its records. To the extent the Fourth District applied the "sword-wielder exception" to the home venue privilege, such application was erroneous because none of Sun-Sentinel's constitutional rights are threatened and the Department has not taken or threatened to take any imminent action that constitutes the "raising of the sword." If the swordwielder exception applies in this case, then this exception would apply in any case in which the state's conduct in the plaintiff's chosen venue is purely passive. This result is contrary to the historical limitation of this exception to cases where the state's active conduct presents a real and imminent threat to the plaintiff's fundamental constitutional rights.

Nor is a special exception to the home venue privilege warranted simply because this action involves public records which are portable personal property maintained in the county where suit is brought. Application of the home venue privilege does not depend on the physical location of a file folder.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT LACKED JURISDICTION OVER SUN-SENTINEL'S PETITION.

The Department moved to dismiss Sun-Sentinel's petition on several procedural grounds including insufficient process, insufficient service of process, and lack of

personal jurisdiction. (App. 4). These objections stemmed from the fact that Sun-Sentinel filed the civil petition in an existing criminal proceeding to which the Department was not a party, and Sun-Sentinel never formally served the Department with the petition.

The trial court rejected these arguments and denied the Department's motion to dismiss. (App. 6). The Fourth District affirmed. *See Department of Children and Families v. Sun-Sentinel*, 839 So. 2d at 791-92. This ruling is subject to *de novo* review. *See Execu-Tech Business Sys., Inc. v. New Oji Paper Co. Ltd.*, 752 So. 2d 582, 584 (Fla. 2000) (ruling on a motion to dismiss based upon questions of law subject to *de novo* review), *cert. denied*, 531 U.S. 818, 121 S. Ct. 58 (2000).

A. The Department did not waive its objection to service.

The Fourth District did not address the merits of the Department's procedural challenges, but rather held that the Department waived its challenge to the sufficiency of service of process by seeking to transfer venue to Leon County. *See Department of Children and Families v. Sun-Sentinel, Inc.*, 839 So. 2d at 791-92. This ruling was erroneous as a matter of law.

According to Rule 1.140 (b), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, certain defenses must be raised in response to an initial pleading. These defenses include, among others, lack of personal jurisdiction, improper venue, insufficiency of process, and insufficiency of service of process. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 1.140 (b)(2)-(4). If any of these defenses are not raised in response to an initial pleading, the defense is waived. *Id.* \P (b). Importantly, however, "no defense or objection is waived by being joined with other defenses or objections in a responsive pleading or motion." *Id.*

The plain language of Rule 1.140(b) establishes that the Department's defenses regarding service and personal jurisdiction were not waived simply because the Department simultaneously raised the defense of improper venue. Because all of these defenses were required to be raised in response to an initial pleading or be waived, the Department was permitted to raise these defenses simultaneously without waiving any or all of them. See, e.g., M.T.B. Banking Corp. v. Bergamo Da Silva, 592 So. 2d 1215, 1215-16 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (defendant did not waive personal jurisdiction defense by asserting other defenses at the same time). Conversely, if the Department had moved to dismiss on jurisdictional grounds only and that motion was denied, the Department could not thereafter have raised the defense of improper venue. See Florida Dept. of Transp. v. Gulf-Atlantic Constrs., Inc., 727 So. 2d 305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (city waived home venue privilege by failing to raise it in answer, because Rule 1.140(b) requires improper venue to be raised prior to or contemporaneous with answer).

This Court's decision in Babcock v. Whatmore, 707 So. 2d 702 (Fla. 1998),

cited by the Fourth District in favor of waiver, actually supports the conclusion that the Department was permitted to raise all of the defenses available to it under Rule 1.140(b) at the same time. In *Babcock*, the defendant moved to dismiss the complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction, and also simultaneously moved for relief from prior judgments. 707 So. 2d at 703. The Court held that although a defendant could waive the defense of lack of personal jurisdiction by seeking *affirmative relief* on the merits, no such waiver occurred in that case. Id. at 704-05. In so holding, the Court observed that the grounds for the defendant's motion for relief from judgments were "affirmative defenses which can properly be joined or pled in the alternative with the [defendant's] jurisdictional challenge." Id. at 705 (citing Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.140(b)). Babcock did not address the issue of whether a motion to dismiss or transfer based on improper venue constitutes a request for affirmative relief inconsistent with a challenge to personal jurisdiction when both are raised simultaneously under Rule 1.140(b).

The other case relied upon by the Fourth District, *Hubbard v. Cazares*, 413 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), *rev. denied*, 417 So. 2d 329 (Fla. 1982), addresses a different procedural question than is presented in this case. In *Hubbard*, the defendant first moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction and subsequently sought a change in venue under Section 47.101(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1979), under

the theory that she could not receive a fair trial where the action was brought. 413 So. 2d at 1192. The Second District held that by requesting a change in venue *after* having challenged jurisdiction, the defendant waived the jurisdictional challenge because she sought affirmative relief inconsistent with her jurisdictional challenge. See id. at 1193. There are two important distinctions between *Hubbard* and the present case. First, the Department challenged venue at the same time it objected to service, whereas the defendant in Hubbard moved to transfer venue after she challenged jurisdiction. Second, the Department's motion was based upon improper venue, a defense specifically enumerated under Rule 1.140(b), whereas the Hubbard defendant sought a discretionary change in venue from one proper location to another. See Management Computer Controls, Inc. v. Charles Perry Constr., Inc., 743 So. 2d 627, 630 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (distinguishing between a discretionary change in venue to ensure the right to a fair trial and a mandatory change in venue when the initial forum is improper). These distinctions render *Hubbard* inapplicable to the present case.²

² In any event, it is not at all clear that *Hubbard* was correctly decided. As noted by the dissent, a motion to change venue has nothing to do with the merits of the case, and cases relied upon by the majority in *Hubbard* were not on point. 413 So. 2d at 1194 (Hobson, J., dissenting). *See also Heineken v. Heineken*, 683 So. 2d 194, 200 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (noting that a change of venue might logically be seen as a defensive measure rather than a request for affirmative relief).

In sum, the Department preserved its objections to personal jurisdiction, insufficient service, and insufficient service of process by moving to dismiss the civil petition on these grounds. The Department's simultaneous motion to dismiss for improper venue was expressly permitted, indeed *required*, by Rule 1.140(b), and did not constitute a waiver of any of the other defenses that the Department was required to raise in response to Sun-Sentinel's initial pleading.

B. The lack of service upon the Department deprived the court of jurisdiction.

Sun-Sentinel never formally served the Department with the civil petition for access to the Department's investigatory records involving the Huttons' children. The trial court's ruling that service of process of the petition was not required was erroneous as a matter of law.

Sun-Sentinel filed its civil petition in the Huttons' criminal case pursuant to Section 119.07(7), which permits any person to "petition the court for an order making public the records of the Department of Children and Family Services that pertain to investigations of alleged abuse" Fla. Stat. § 119.07(7) (2001). Related portions of Chapter 119 make clear that the means for seeking access to public records under that chapter is by filing a "civil action." *See id.* § 119.07(2)(b) (in any *civil action* in which an exemption to [Section 119.07(1)] is asserted . . . the public record or part

thereof in question shall be submitted to the court for an inspection in camera"); *id.* § 119.11(2) (Whenever *an action is filed* to enforce the provisions of this chapter, the court shall set an immediate hearing, giving the case priority over other pending cases."); *id* § 119.11(4) ("Upon service of a complaint, counterclaim, or cross-claim in a *civil action* brought to enforce the provisions of this chapter, the custodian of the public record ... [shall not dispose of the record]"); *id* § 119.12 ("If a *civil action* is filed against an agency to enforce the provisions of this chapter and if the court determines that such agency unlawfully refused to permit a public record to be inspected ... the court shall assess ... reasonable attorneys' fees.") (all emphasis added).

A "civil action" is commenced by filing a petition or complaint. *See* Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.050. Upon the commencement of an action, service of process must be made on each defendant. *See* Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.070; Fla. Stat. § 48.031 (2001). Even in existing actions, service of process must be made when claims are brought against new parties. *See* Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.170(g) (service of process required for crossclaims against parties who have not yet appeared in action); *see id.* R. 1.170(h) (service of process required when additional parties are brought in to grant complete relief in determination of counterclaim or crossclaim); *See* Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.180(a) (service of summons and complaint required for third-party claim).

The purpose of service of process is to give a defendant proper notice of the suit, and to vest the court with jurisdiction. *See Shurman v. Atlantic Mortgage & Invest. Corp.*, 795 So. 2d 952, 953-54 (Fla. 2001); *Beckwith v. Bailey*, 161 So. 576, 581 (Fla. 1935). Without proper service of process, the court lacks personal jurisdiction over the defendant. *See Beckwith*, 161 So. at 581; *M.J.W. v. Department of Children & Families*, 825 So. 2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). The burden of proof to demonstrate valid service of process is upon the person seeking to invoke the court's jurisdiction. *See M.J.W.*, 825 So. 2d at 1041; *Carlini v. State of Florida, Dept. of Legal Affairs*, 521 So. 2d 254, 255 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). The defendant's receipt of actual notice of the proceeding does not establish lawful service of process. *See M.J.W.*, 825 So. 2d at 1041.

In this case, Sun-Sentinel contends that it was not obligated to serve the Department with the civil petition because the civil petition was filed in the criminal proceeding and did not constitute a new civil action governed by the statutes and civil procedure rules that require service of process. This contention makes it apparent that Sun-Sentinel deliberately sought to bypass the procedure set out in Chapter 119 for seeking access to records, as well as the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, and now seeks to benefit from having created this procedural anomaly. But the nature of a Section 119.07(7)(a), petition and the requirements for its adjudication are determined

according to Chapter 119 and the relevant civil procedure rules, not according to the case style and court name strategically selected by the petitioner. To allow a plaintiff to circumvent the service requirement in this manner elevates form over substance and seriously jeopardizes a defendant's right to receive notice of and the opportunity to be heard in an action.

Sun-Sentinel also contends that no service of process was required under subsection 7(a) of 119.07 because that subsection contains no express service requirement. Fla. Stat. § 119.07(7)(a) (2001). Sun-Sentinel contrasts this subsection with subsection (7)(b), which specifies that when the Department files a petition to release records in cases involving serious injury to a child or vulnerable adult, "the petition must be personally served on the child or vulnerable adult." Fla. Stat. § 119.07(7)(b) (2001). This distinction is meaningless, however, because the Florida Statutes and Florida Rules of Civil Procedure governing service of process apply to all civil lawsuits-not just those based upon statutes that expressly require service. The service requirement in subsection 7(b) simply reflects an added level of specificity regarding who must be served due to the importance of the rights involved. Subsection 7(a) does not similarly specify who must be served because in most cases the petitioner will not know whose rights will be affected by the disclosure of the records. Thus, the differences between these two subsections are reconcilable and in

no way justify suspension of the Florida Statutes and Rules of Civil Procedure that require service of process.

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