IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-410

DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES, STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

vs.

SUN-SENTINEL, INC.,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT SUN-SENTINEL

John R. Hargrove
Florida Bar No. 173745
W. Kent Brown
Florida Bar No. 856347
HEINRICH GORDON HARGROVE
WEIHE & JAMES, P.A.
500 E. Broward Boulevard, # 1000
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394
(954) 527-2800
(954) 524-9481 (fax)

David S. Bralow
Florida Bar No. 802727
Senior Counsel/Florida Media
Tribune Company
633 N. Orange Avenue
Orlando, FL 32801
(407) 420-5627
(407) 420-5760 (fax)

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

13

fully explained in SUN-SENTINEL's jurisdictional brief, there is no express and direct conflict with <u>Jacksonville Electric</u>. In fact, that case falls squarely within this second category of lawsuits subject to the home venue privilege because the relief

By stark contrast, every § 119.07(7)(a) petition stands on its own in that it involves a fact-specific inquiry as to whether there is good cause for the records to be publicly disclosed. Under the statute, the focus of this good cause inquiry is on the best interest of the child. At issue are documents concerning the child which are maintained in DCF's local office where the child lives rather than in its agency headquarters in Tallahassee. While DCF repeatedly argues that the privilege must be invoked in this case to ensure "uniform standards" are applied (Init. Brf. at 19-20, 26), the very nature of a good cause inquiry requires that it be handled on a case-by-case basis. It is shocking that DCF would even suggest that an inquiry which focuses on the best interest of the child can be made by reference to a uniform, one-size-fits-all formula. As DCF should be well aware, every child is unique and must be treated as such. No uniform practice or interest of DCF is at issue here. No rule or regulation of the agency is being interpreted. And no threat of multiple litigation with potentially inconsistent results exists. Accordingly, the very underpinnings of the home venue privilege are absent here. 15

_

sought was a declaration as to the legality of a standard utility contract. As such, home venue was properly invoked in that case to prevent multiple litigation and inconsistent results in different counties. To the extent <u>Jacksonville Electric</u> expressed some concern that home venue may be absolute, the First District was neither certain of nor comfortable with such a notion. This is evidenced by the fact that the court stated that it felt "constrained by prior case law" to rule as it did, then certified a question of great public importance as to whether trial court discretion would lie in the absence of one of the three recognized exceptions to home venue.

characterization of this case as "merely ... the latest in a long line of civil suits in which a trial court was asked to determine a plaintiff's rights" is particularly disingenuous. (Init. Brf. at 18; emphasis added) It is not the rights of a particular plaintiff that are at issue in connection with a § 119.07(7)(a) proceeding, but rather the rights of the abused or neglected children and the public generally. SUN-SENTINEL sought DCF records in this case as a surrogate for the public.

15

Will in no way be prejudiced if good cause petitions are heard

Furthermore, a § 119.07(7)(a) petition is not in the nature of a lawsuit against DCF, so its request to change venue was not even appropriate.¹⁶ By its own admission (RI:5:22), DCF is merely the passive custodian of the records sought. It has no protectable interest in connection with this type of petition — a point that is apparent from the very terms of the statute. As noted, § 119.07(7) lists the various interests to be balanced by the court in making its good cause determination and does not include any right or interest of DCF in the balance.¹⁷ As such, there is no reason for DCF to have complicated this otherwise routine proceeding by challenging venue.¹⁸

As previously stated, by specifically enumerating the interests to be balanced in making a good cause determination, the legislature certainly contemplated that such a proceeding would be conducted by

in the venue where the records are located since the agency has 15 separate district offices in the state -- each of which is assigned an attorney. In fact, DCF routinely litigates cases throughout the state. See, e.g., C.C. v. Dept. of Children and Families, 2003 WL 21755029 (Fla. 1st DCA July 31, 2003); In the Interest of S.C., 2003 WL 21766512 (Fla. 2d DCA Aug. 1, 2003); Pena v. Dept. of Children and Families, 2003 WL 21537134 (Fla. 3d DCA July 9, 2003); J.M v. Dept. of Children and Families, 2003 WL 21800438 (Fla. 4th DCA Aug. 6, 2003); S.L. v. Dept. of Children and Families, 2003 WL 21946441 (Fla. 5th DCA Aug. 15, 2003).

¹⁶

Underscoring this point is the fact that DCF never answered the petition, nor is there any requirement that it do so. Once the motion to dismiss was denied, the case proceeded directly to a final hearing with no further pleadings being required. (RII:26) $$\underline{\rm S}$$ e e

note 4 supra.

 $^{^{18}}$ SUN –

SENTINEL learned after filing its petition that DCF had already turned over copies of the records sought to the State Attorney who was prosecuting the case against the Huttons. (RII:13:82) Since the State Attorney was already a party in that criminal proceeding and since DCF has no substantive interest to be considered by the court under § 119.07(7)(a), the merits of SUN-SENTINEL's petition could arguably have been resolved whether or not DCF participated in the proceeding.

the court most familiar with these specific interests.¹⁹ In this case no court is better suited to address such concerns than the Palm Beach County criminal court before which the Hutton prosecution is pending. That court already has the closest relationship to and most intimate knowledge of the affected children, the criminal defendants, and the criminal investigation. It would also have a greater appreciation for the competing public interests in the surrounding community than a judge in a distant jurisdiction. Requiring a Tallahassee judge to step in and learn what the criminal court already knows would accomplish nothing but an increase in the very inefficiency and taxpayer expense that the home venue privilege is designed to cure. Moreover, forcing the civil court in Tallahassee to absorb all of this additional litigation would undoubtedly strain the resources of that court and create even further inefficiency.

But these are not the only problems flowing from an application of the home venue privilege here. To preclude the Palm Beach County criminal court from deciding whether disclosure of the records would prejudice the fair trial rights of the Huttons flies directly in the face of this Court's decision in Florida Freedom Newspapers, Inc. v. McCrary, 520 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1988). In that case, this Court made it clear that when a request is made to release public records relating to a criminal defendant, it is the constitutional duty of the criminal court to consider how the release of those records may affect the fair trial rights of the accused. McCrary, 520 So. 2d at 34; see also City of Miami v. Post-Newsweek Stations, 837 So. 2d 1002, 1003 n.2 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) (noting that criminal judge is in better position

¹⁹ While

the legislative intent is apparent from the face of the statute itself, it should also be noted that legislative history further supports this interpretation. The amendment to \$ 119.07, creating the original version of § 119.07(7), was enacted as part of House Bill 2409 (Public Law #94-164). House Bill 2409 made numerous changes to dependency and termination of parental rights proceedings. The inclusion of the § 119.07 amendment in HB 2409 strongly suggests that "the court" the legislature was referring to was the court in which the dependency, termination of parental rights or other proceeding relating to the relevant DCF investigation was taking place.

to determine whether investigation or prosecution would be compromised by release of related records). In other words, given the gravity of the Sixth Amendment rights at stake when criminal records are about to be publicly disclosed, <u>see</u> amend. VI, U.S. Const., a criminal judge cannot constitutionally "pass off" the public records issue to a Tallahassee civil court to decide. However, this is precisely what DCF asks this Court to permit, and this Court should not *and cannot* countenance such a result.

Since SUN-SENTINEL's argument against home venue is based on provisions of the United States Constitution, the Florida Constitution, and the Florida Statutes, it is particularly disingenuous for DCF to suggest on page 25 of its brief that SUN-SENTINEL has offered nothing more than the "physical location of a file folder" to support venue in Palm Beach County. By so arguing, DCF also ignores that Palm Beach County is also the "physical location" of its ten neglected children — whose best interests are the primary focus of the statutory good cause inquiry. Accordingly, DCF has failed to establish any abuse of discretion by the trial court in allowing SUN-SENTINEL's § 119.07(7)(a) petition to go forward in Palm Beach County.

3. Privilege Contrary to Expedited Nature of Proceeding

As a necessary adjunct to the policy of open government, Florida courts do not countenance *any* delay tactics by the government in resolving public records issues — regardless of how slight that delay may be. For instance, in <u>Cannella</u>, 458 So. 2d at 1075 (Fla. 1984), this Court explained that in the context of governmental disclosure of public records:

[D]elay, no matter how short, impermissibly interferes with the public's right [of access].... The legislature has placed the books on the table; only it has the power to alter that situation.

In fact, this very notion of minimizing delay and expediting access to public records is reflected throughout the Public Records Act. See, e.g., § 119.11(1), Fla. Stat. (providing for "immediate hearing giving the case priority over other pending cases"); § 119.11(2), Fla. Stat. (providing for agencies to "comply with [order allowing access] within 48 hours"); see generally § 119.12(1), Fla. Stat. (imposing attorney's fees against

agency which unlawfully refuses to permit access to public records). Moreover, *any* delay in the media's access to newsworthy governmental records ultimately harms the public. As this Court has expressly recognized, "[n]ews delayed is news denied" and "[t]o be useful to the public, news events must be reported when they occur." State ex rel. Miami Herald Publ'g Co. v. McIntosh, 340 So. 2d 904, 910 (Fla. 1976).

While it is true that DCF records relating to child abuse and neglect are to remain confidential in the agency's ordinary course of business, see § 39.202, Fla. Stat. (2001), the fact remains that these records are still considered "public records", see § 119.011(1), Fla. Stat.; see also Art. I, § 24, Fla. Const. Consequently, any governmental delay in allowing this process to run its course as quickly as possible would directly violate the spirit if not the letter of Cannella, McIntosh, and Chapter 119.

Moreover, forcing the public to go to Tallahassee to litigate any issue of access under the Public Records Act, including § 119.07(7)(a), may well discourage many from even trying to obtain access at all -- a result patently at odds with the very notion of *open* government. As such, the privilege cannot and should not be applied in this context.

B. <u>Alternatively Sword-Wielder Exception Applies</u>

While the above provides a sufficient basis to reject the home venue privilege, the sword-wielder exception to home venue provides an alternative basis to reach the same conclusion. This exception applies where an unlawful invasion of a lawful right secured to the plaintiff by the constitution or laws of the

This case demonstrates the very type of delay warned against in <u>Cannella</u>. Due to DCF's procedural challenges to SUN-SENTINEL petition, more than five months passed between the time SUN-SENTINEL filed its petition and the time the court actually considered the merits of the petition. (RII:26:Ex.B) The fact that the trial court ruled at the final hearing that SUN-SENTINEL had not satisfied the requisite "good cause" for access does not and cannot justify DCF's actions in substantially delaying the process. As <u>Cannella</u> reflects, in the public records arena the ends do not justify the means.

jurisdiction is directly threatened in the county where action is taken. In such cases, the home venue privilege does not apply on the theory that since the government is "wielding a sword" that threatens the plaintiff's rights, the plaintiff should be permitted to litigate the legality of that governmental conduct in the jurisdiction where it has occurred. See Carlile, 354 So. 2d at 365-66 (Fla. 1977).

DCF claims that the sword-wielder exception does not apply because "SUN-SENTINEL is not in danger of having a constitutional right violated" by it. (Init. Brf. at 22) To the contrary, as fully explained in the preceding section, DCF's strategic attempt to stall public records proceedings has directly implicated the public's constitutional right of access. Cannella underscores the fact that any tactic used by the government to delay public records proceedings — no matter how innocuous it may facially appear to be — adversely impacts that right of access. Since DCF improperly delayed SUN-SENTINEL's right to have the merits of its petition considered by the trial court through a series of procedural maneuvers in the Palm Beach County criminal court, DCF did in fact "wield a sword" that threatened SUN-SENTINEL's constitutional rights. Venue is therefore proper in Palm Beach County, and the trial court committed no abuse of discretion in so ruling.

While DCF in its brief harps on the confidential nature of the documents sought, it simply cannot get around the fact that the legislature has specifically recognized that public scrutiny of DCF serves the public interest and has prescribed a specific procedure for the public to follow in order to gain access to these otherwise confidential records. DCF cannot obstruct the orderly progress of that procedure without directly impacting the public's constitutional right of access. Moreover, by focusing on the confidential nature of the documents sought, DCF overlooks another basic point. As § 119.07(7)(a) very clearly reflects, the confidential nature of these records is to protect the rights of innocent children when there is no public interest served by disclosure of the records — *not* to protect DCF from public scrutiny. As noted, no matter how DCF attempts to characterize its records, they are still "public records." See § 119.011(1), Fla. Stat.; Art. I, § 24, Fla. Const. So DCF — as custodian of those records — has a *duty*

to facilitate access thereto as well as to expedite the process to determine whether access should be granted. Yet DCF has instead gone on the attack in this case and dragged SUN-SENTINEL through months of procedural challenges. As such, DCF is unquestionably a "sword wielder" and is thereby precluded from taking a home court advantage.

 \mathbf{II}

PERSONAL JURISDICTION ISSUE HAS BEEN WAIVED AND IS MERITLESS

A. Waiver

DCF claims that the trial court lacked personal jurisdiction because SUN-SENTINEL did not effect formal service of process of its § 119.07(7)(a) petition upon it. The case law is clear, however, that once a party seeks affirmative relief from the court, that party has essentially consented to the court's exercise of jurisdiction, thereby waiving any objection thereto. See Babcock v. Whatmore, 707 So. 2d 702 (Fla. 1998), approving Hubbard v. Cazares, 413 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). The opinion in Hubbard could not be any clearer on the point:

[A] request for change of venue following a timely asserted challenge to personal jurisdiction is a request for affirmative relief which constitutes a waiver of the jurisdictional challenge.

Hubbard, 413 So. 2d at 1193 (emphasis added). DCF did not just

In footnote 2 of its initial brief, DCF suggests that Hubbard may have been decided incorrectly. DCF has evidently overlooked the specific language used by this Court in Babcock which quotes Hubbard at length and then immediately states: "[w]e agree with the above reasoning of the federal and Florida courts that adhere to its reasoning and hold that a defendant waives a challenge to personal jurisdiction by seeking affirmative relief - such requests are logically inconsistent with an initial defense of lack of jurisdiction." Babcock, 707 So. 2d at 704.

file a request to change venue, but it also filed a supporting memorandum of law, fully argued its position on venue at a hearing below, and affirmatively sought attorneys' fees in the process.

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